COPY

ORIGINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the lower court erred in: 1) failing to enforce the notice requirement of Mississippi Code Annotated §15-1-36(15) for any action filed on or after January 1, 2003, to provide sixty (60) days notice prior to filing suit; 2) failing to enforce the requirement of attachment of a Certificate of Expert Consultation to the complaint when suit was filed, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58; and 3) allowing the 9(h) substitution of Rhonda Bounds as a party defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 25, 2003, suit was filed in Hinds County Circuit Court alleging Pearl Henry (hereinafter referred to as “Ms. Henry” and/or “the Resident”) suffered personal injuries while residing at Forest Hill Nursing Center. (R. 20-59).¹ Scott Lindsey, an Administrator at one time, was also named as a defendant.² *Id.* In response, the original Defendants sought dismissal due to Plaintiff’s failure to comply with certain provisions of Mississippi’s Medical Malpractice Tort Reform Act, §§15-1-36(15) and 11-1-58. (R. 60-64). The Hinds County Circuit Court denied the motion, finding as follows:

1. Defendants filed this Motion to Dismiss alleging that the Plaintiff failed to comply with the sixty (60) day notice requirement and the Certificate of Consultation with an expert of the Mississippi Model Malpractice Tort Reform Act. Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(15) and §11-1-58.
2. Mississippi Code Annotated §15-1-36 (14) clearly states that “The limitation established by the section as to institutions, for the aged or infirm shall apply only to actions the cause of which occurred on or after January 1, 2003.” Herein, Plaintiff’s decedent died on July 31, 2001. Accordingly any such limitations imposed by §15-1-36 cannot be applied

¹Appellants citation form is as follows: Citation to the record is (R.____).

²For clarity, Forest Hill Nursing Center and Scott Lindsey will be referred to collectively as “the original Defendants.” Scott Lindsey was subsequently dismissed and Rhonda Bounds, a former Administrator improperly substituted.

in this matter.

3. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15), which sets forth the sixty (60) day notice requirement, was enacted during the 2002 legislative session and is likewise not applicable herein.
4. §11-1-58 of the Mississippi Code Annotated sets forth the Certificate of Consultation requirements. Additionally, this section was enacted during the 2002 session and cannot be applied herein.
5. The Court notes that MRCP 12(b)(6) governs Motion(s) to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief Can be Granted. The comment to the rule states that, "...to grant the [12(b)(6)] motion, there must appear to a certainty that the plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any set of facts that could be proved in support of the claim."
6. After reviewing the pleadings and other submissions, having heard the argument of the parties, and being otherwise advised in premises, the Court finds that because factual matters exist that must be resolved by the jury, the plaintiff is entitled to proceed with his case. As a result, the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss First Amended Complaint is not well taken and should be denied.

(R. 584-85). A subsequent petition for interlocutory appeal was denied by this Court as being untimely. (R. 391).

Thereafter, on June 3, 2005, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Substitution of True Names of alleged John Doe Defendants and Amendment to Complaint. (R. 194-202). Objections to the substitutions, as well as motions to dismiss were filed, again based

upon both the failure to provide sixty-days notice prior to filing suit and failure to attach a Certificate of Expert Consultation. The lower court heard arguments of the parties and ordered the substitutions.³ (R. 836-37). No actual signed order was ever entered by the Court denying the Motion(s) to Dismiss. The court, however, verbally denied the Motions in the May 23, 2005 hearing.

Aggrieved by Judge Kidd's rulings, the original Defendants, Forest Hill Nursing Center, along with newly named Defendants Hugh Franklin, A.D. Buffington, Long Term Care Management and Rhonda Bounds, joined the interlocutory appeal filed by Timothy Estes, M.D. An appeal of a trial court's denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed under the *de novo* standard. *Arceo v. Tolliver*, __ So. 2d __, 2006 WL 3317036 (Miss. Nov. 16, 2006) (rehearing denied) (citing *Monsanto v. Hall*, 912 So. 2d 134, 136 (Miss. 2005)).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Appeal primarily centers around the application and enforcement of the procedural requirements of Mississippi's Medical Malpractice Tort Reform Act. Defendant Rhonda Bounds has a second argument related to the Lower Court's

³ A separate Order was entered regarding the substitution of Defendant Rhonda Bounds. (R. 840). Ms. Bounds argued her substitution was improper, based upon the fact that she had been named in a lawsuit filed by the same Plaintiff in June 2002. That Complaint was never served on any party. (R. 281-289). Her identity was clearly known at the time the 2003 suit was filed; therefore, her substitution was improper and made after the statute of limitations had expired.

allowing her to be substituted as a party defendant after the statute of limitations had expired.

Pearl Henry died on July 31, 2001. The instant suit was filed against the original Defendants on or about July 25, 2003, almost seven months after the Mississippi Medical Malpractice Tort Reform Act went into effect. Notice was not provided either to Forest Hill Nursing Center or Scott Lindsey prior to Plaintiff filing suit. In lieu of filing an answer, the original Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss citing noncompliance with certain provisions of the Act.

In response, Plaintiff asserted that neither the sixty-day notice requirement of §15-1-36(15) nor the requirement of attaching a Certificate of Expert Consultation applied. It was further argued that amendments to the Act in 2002 would not apply since Pearl Henry died prior to the effective date. Plaintiff additionally argued that Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(14) limited the necessity of the sixty-day notice requirement “only to actions the cause of which occurred on or after January 1, 2003.” (R. 66). In making this argument, Plaintiff misinterpreted the term “limitation” found in Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(14). Section 14 addresses the application of the new two - year statute of limitations, but has no effect on the notice requirement found in the following section.

With regard to Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(15), Plaintiff did admit his failure to provide notice under the Act, but then asserted such notice was inapplicable. (R. 65-69). Plaintiff further proposed the Complaint, in and of itself, served as notice since an Amended complaint was filed after the original Defendants sought dismissal of the case.⁴

Plaintiff further argued he was unable to attach a Certificate of Expert Consultation because of the close proximity of the running of the statute of limitations. (R. 72-73). Plaintiff argued the reason for not attaching the Certificate was the result of his failure to receive the medical records from Forest Hill Nursing Center. (R. 76). This argument is nonsensical as Plaintiff's Counsel did not request the medical records until November 20, 2003, *four (4) months after this lawsuit was filed*. The medical records however, had been previously produced on July 14, 2002.⁵

Plaintiff's second argument makes the first completely irrelevant. He argued the Act did not apply, but, regardless was in compliance by subsequently filing a

⁴On October 12, 2003, Plaintiff filed his First Amended Complaint. He argued the filing of the Complaint provided notice, stating, "[n]otice was given the Defendant when the Complaint was first filed on July 25, 2003." (R. 78). He further asserted that "[t]his complies with Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15)." *Id.* Clearly, it would reduce this Statute to minutia if such an interpretation was allowed to stand.

⁵Plaintiff had filed the same lawsuit in 2002; however, it was not served on any party. (R. 281-87). The Gibson Law Firm was Counsel of Record and included on the authorization for release of medical records requested on November 26, 2001. (R. 255). These records were produced on July 24, 2002. (R. 426-28; 429-31). Plaintiff's argument of not having access to the records is disingenuous and should be disregarded by the Court.

purported Certificate of Consultation with the First Amended Complaint.⁶ (R. 176). Plaintiff's alternative arguments evidence his acquiescence to the requirements of the Act. The lower court did not have the benefit of *Pitalo* and its prodigy during argument on these issues.⁷ The lower court misapplied the requirements of the Act in denying the motions. (R. 569-70).

The original Defendants' Motion, as stated herein, was filed due to Plaintiff's failure to comply with Mississippi Code Ann. §§ 15-1-36(15) and 11-1-58. The Court construed both provisions as inapplicable since enacted during the 2002 legislative session. (R. 569-570). The lower court also opined that since Ms. Henry died on July 31, 2001, the limitations of §15-1-36(15) would not apply.⁸ (R. 569). The court further likened or converted the Motion to Dismiss to a summary judgment motion. (R. 570). The ruling of the lower court was unsupported in fact and is unfounded as a matter of law.

⁶Defendants contend the "certificate of consultation" despite being labeled as such, did not meet the requirements as outlined in the statute. Further, the savings clause within § 11-1-58(1)(b) or (4) affords the Plaintiff no relief under the circumstances as no certificate was attached when filed asserting a statute of limitations issue. Additionally, records must be requested before filing suit and not received to obtain a reprieve under section (4) of the statute. See Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58.)

⁷See *Lavon Kay Pitalo v. GPCH-GP, Inc., d/b/a Garden Park Medical Center and Dr. Ronald Graham*, 933 So. 2d. 927 (Miss. 2006); see also *Salvador Arceo v. Tolliver*, ___ So. 2d. ___ 2006 WL 3317036 (Miss. Nov. 16, 2006).

⁸In *Arceo*, referenced in footnote 7, the Plaintiff Tommie Tolliver passed away July 13, 2002, well before the October 2002 legislative session. *Arceo*, at ¶ 3.

Following this first ruling, Forest Hill Nursing Center and Scott Lindsey mistakenly filed a petition for interlocutory appeal directly with the lower court, rather than this Court.⁹ As a result of this procedural error, the petition was denied. (R. 887).

On or about June 3, 2005, Plaintiff substituted party defendants. (R.194-202). Objections to the substitutions were filed by all Defendants including Rhonda Bounds. All newly named Defendants filed Motions to Dismiss on the same grounds as Forest Hill Nursing Center's and Scott Lindsey's previously filed Motion. Defendants also asserted arguments regarding improper substitution of the parties. (R. 205-291, 302-362). Defendant Rhonda Bounds, having been named in the June 2002 suit that was never served on any party, objected to the substitutions. (R. 266-69). Ms. Bounds was previously identified in the 2002 suit. (R. 281-87). Plaintiff's claim that her identity was uncovered as part of discovery is not accurate. Ms. Bounds was known to the Plaintiff when he named her as a Defendant in 2002. Her substitution after the running of the statute of limitations was impermissible and does not meet the requirements of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h). The lower court erred in denying the motions to dismiss, and allowing the substitutions. (R.203-204).

⁹Defendants failed to realize the amendment to the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure took effect one month prior and mistakenly filed the appeal with the wrong court. After transferring the matter to this Court, the request for interlocutory appeal was denied, not on the merits, but solely as a result of untimeliness. (R. 887).

As a result, on March 6, 2006, this Interlocutory Appeal was properly filed on behalf of Timothy Estes, M.D. and joined by all other Defendants.¹⁰ The issues before this Court are simple - - no Defendant was given sixty-day notice of Plaintiff's intent to file suit, nor did Plaintiff attach a Certificate of Expert Consultation with the Complaint. Accordingly, pursuant to now - settled Mississippi jurisprudence, the matter should be dismissed. Further, the improper substitution of Rhonda Bounds was made after the statute of limitations expired; therefore, all claims against her are barred and she should be dismissed.

ARGUMENT

DUE TO BOTH STATUTORY LAW AND MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT PRECEDENCE, THIS MATTER IS RIPE FOR DISMISSAL

A. Plaintiff failed to comply with the notice requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated §15-1-36(15); therefore dismissal is warranted.

Notice was not provided to any Defendant prior to Plaintiff filing suit even though this action was filed almost seven months after the notice requirements went into effect; therefore dismissal is warranted. This Court has previously ruled upon the notice provision of Mississippi's Medical Malpractice Tort Reform Act. *See Pitalo v. GPCH-GP, Inc.*, 933 So. 2d 927 (Miss. 2006), Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(15) (Rev.

¹⁰The notice issues and the objections to the substitutions were contained in separate petitions to this Court which were consolidated once accepted.

2003); *see also* *Salvador Arceo v. Tolliver* __ So. 2d. __, 2006 WL 3317036 (Miss. Nov. 16, 2006); *Doolittle v. Wyse*, No. 2005-IA-01443-SCT (Miss. October 5, 2006); and *Bologna v. Wyse*, No. 2005-IA-01235-SCT (Miss. October 5, 2006). The Act provides that actions based upon the professional negligence of a healthcare provider cannot be filed until the defendant has been given at least sixty (60) days prior written notice of the *intention* to begin an action. *See Pitalo*, 933 So. 2d. at 929. The language of the Statute specifically provides:

No action based upon the health care provider's professional negligence may be begun unless the defendant has been given at least sixty (60) days prior written notice of the intention to begin the action. No particular form of notice is required, but it shall notify the defendant of the legal basis of the claim and the type of loss sustained, including with specificity the nature of the injuries suffered. If the notice is served within sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the time for the commencement of the action shall be extended sixty (60) days from the service of the notice for said health care providers and others. This subsection shall not be applicable with respect to any defendant whose name is unknown to the plaintiff at the time of filing the complaint and who is identified therein by a fictitious name.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) (Rev. 2003).

Notice was not provided to any Defendant prior to suit being filed. This failure is in total disregard of and completely extinguishes the purpose of the Act. Plaintiff admitted this failure to the lower court. (R. 183-87). Plaintiff's attempt to cure his

shortcomings by arguing an amended complaint could allow the original complaint to serve as notice should be disregarded as illogical. While creative, such an argument does not comport with the intent of the Act. To allow application of the statute in this manner in no way reflects legislative intent. To contend that the filing of an action in court can serve as notice of intent to file an action flaunts the purposes of the notice requirement.

Plaintiff incorrectly maintains that Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(14), which states, “[t]he limitation established by this section as to institutions for the aged and infirm shall apply only to actions the cause of which occurred on or after January 1, 2003,” can be read to suggest that the notice requirements do not apply even though the suit was filed seven months after the effective date of the Act. Clearly, §15-1-36(14) addresses application of the new two-year statute of limitation, since it would have been manifestly unjust to bar claims overnight upon passage of the Act when those claims would not have been barred before the Act went into effect. Therefore, §15-1-36(14) states that the limitation (the statute of limitation) only becomes two years for actions the cause of which occurred on or after January 1, 2003. However, as this court has held, the notice provisions apply to all actions filed after January 1, 2003. In *Arceo*, this Court applied the prerequisites to filing suit even though the cause in that case occurred before January 1, 2003. (See footnote 8). This case should be dismissed.

B. A Certificate of Expert Consultation was not attached to the Complaint; therefore, dismissal is warranted.

Dismissal is also proper as a result of Plaintiff's failure to attach the required Certificate of Expert Consultation pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58 specifically provides:

(1) In any action against a licensed physician, health care provider or health care practitioner for injuries or wrongful death arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services where expert testimony is otherwise required by law, the complaint shall be accompanied by a certificate executed by the attorney for the plaintiff declaring that:

(a) The attorney has reviewed the facts of the case and has consulted with at least one (1) expert qualified pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the Mississippi Rules of Evidence who is qualified to give expert testimony as to standard of care or negligence and who the attorney reasonably believes is knowledgeable in the relevant issues involved in the particular action, and that the attorney has concluded on the basis of such review and consultation that there is a reasonable basis for the commencement of such action; or

(b) The attorney was unable to obtain the consultation required by paragraph (a) of this subsection because a limitation of time established by Section 15-1-36 would bar the action and that the consultation could not reasonably be obtained before such time expired. A certificate executed pursuant to this paragraph (b) shall be supplemented by a

certificate of consultation pursuant to paragraph (a) or (c) within sixty (60) days after service of the complaint or the suit shall be dismissed; or

(c) The attorney was unable to obtain the consultation required by paragraph (a) of this subsection because the attorney had made at least three (3) separate good faith attempts with three (3) different experts to obtain a consultation and that none of those contacted would agree to a consultation.

(2) Where a certificate is required pursuant to this section only, a single certificate is required for an action, even if more than one (1) defendant has been named in the complaint or is subsequently named.

(3) A certificate under subsection (1) of this section is not required where the attorney intends to rely solely on either the doctrine of “res ipsa loquitur” or “informed consent.” In such cases, the complaint shall be accompanied by a certificate executed by the attorney declaring that the attorney is solely relying on such doctrine and, for that reason, is not filing a certificate under subsection (1) of this section.

(4) If a request by the plaintiff for the records of the plaintiff’s medical treatment by the defendants has been made and the records have not been produced, the plaintiff shall not be required to file the certificate required by this section until ninety (90) days after the records have been produced.

(5) For purposes of this section, an attorney who submits a certificate of consultation shall not be required to disclose the identity of the consulted or the contents of the consultation; provided, however, that when the attorney makes a claim under paragraph (c) of subsection (1) of this

section that he was unable to obtain the required consultation with an expert, the court, upon the request of a defendant made prior to compliance by the plaintiff with the provisions of this section, may require the attorney to divulge to the court, in camera and without any disclosure by the court to any other party, the names of physicians refusing such consultation.

(6) The provisions of this section shall not apply to a plaintiff who is not represented by an attorney.

(7) The plaintiff, in lieu of serving a certificate required by this section, may provide the defendant or defendants with expert information in the form required by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Nothing in this section requires the disclosure of any “consulting” or nontrial expert, except as expressly stated herein.

Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58. Plaintiff’s Counsel failed to comply as required under the statute. In *Walker v. Whitfield Nursing Center, Inc.*, this Court was faced with the issue of attachment of a Certificate when filing suit. 931 So. 2d 583 (Miss. 2006). The Court found “[t]he language of Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58 is clear and unambiguous that based on the failure to comply with its mandatory, statutory requirements, the Complaint shall be dismissed. *Walker* at 591. Just as in *Walker*, the Court determined the “Complaint must be dismissed.” This matter must likewise be dismissed.

The lower court, in applying Plaintiff’s logic, found compliance not to be necessary since the Decedent passed away July 31, 2001, prior to the 2002 Legislative session. (R. 569). As stated, *supra*, Plaintiff alternatively asserted he was unable to

comply due to the close proximity of the running of the statute of limitation six (6) days after filing suit. Plaintiff further asserted he was unable to comply because the Defendants failed to provide the medical records. Plaintiff must decide which way he would like to argue. However, no matter which direction is chosen, the argument must fail. Compliance with Mississippi's Medical Malpractice Tort Reform Act is mandatory for any and all actions filed on or after January 1, 2003.¹¹ *Pitalo*, 933 So. 2d 927; *See also Arceo*, __ So. 2d __, 2006 WL 3317036, (Miss. Nov. 16, 2006) at ¶8.

Plaintiff's ~~statute of limitation~~ argument should be disregarded. A savings clause is contained within §11-1-58, whereby a plaintiff has the opportunity to attach the required Certificate at a later date if the records have been requested but not produced. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58(4). In the case-at-bar, records were requested on behalf of the same Plaintiff in 2001 and produced by Forest Hill Nursing Center. (R. 426-28, R. 429-31).¹² The Gibson Law Firm was counsel of record in the lawsuit filed by Plaintiff, Willie McKee on June 11, 2002, as part of an apparent mass filing of nursing home abuse cases and drug cases by the Gibson Law Firm, as well as the Garvin Firm, Frazier Davidson, and Butch Cothren. (R. 407-418).

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