**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
NO.2006-M-364-SCT
CONSOLIDATED WITH
NO. 2006-M-00420-SCT**

TIMOTHY ESTES, M.D., et al

DEFENDANTS - APPELLANTS

VS.

**FREDERICA BRISTER, CONSERVATOR OF
WILLIE MCKEE, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE
OF PEARL HENRY, DECEASED AND ON BEHALF
OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF
PEARL HENRY, DECEASED**

PLAINTIFF - APPELLEE

APPELLEE'S COMBINED RESPONSE TO APPELLANTS' BRIEFS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

**CHARLES E. GIBSON III, MB# [REDACTED]
GIGI GIBSON, MB # [REDACTED]
The Gibson Law Firm
447 Northpark Drive
Post Office Box 6005
Ridgeland, MS 39158-6005
Phone: (601) 957-6010
Fax: (601) 957-6065**

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

AS TO APPELLANT ESTES:

Appellant Timothy Estes, M.D.'s Appeal was dismissed pursuant to a Joint Motion to Dismiss and Stipulation of Dismissal filed in this Court on March 5, 2007 and therefore all issues are moot and no response is necessary. See Clerk's Notice dated March 6, 2007, a copy of which is included as R.E. 2.

AS TO APPELLANT WILLIAMS:

Appellant Judson Williams, CNP's Appeal was dismissed pursuant to a Joint Motion to Dismiss and Stipulation of Dismissal filed in this Court on March 7, 2007 and therefore all issues are moot and no response is necessary. See Clerk's Notice dated March 8, 2007, a copy of which is included as R.E. 3.

AS TO APPELLANTS HUGH FRANKLIN, A.D. BUFFINGTON, AND RHONDA BOUNDS:

Appellants Hugh Franklin, A.D. Buffington and Rhonda Bounds Appeals were dismissed pursuant to a Joint Motion to Dismiss and Stipulation of Dismissal filed in this Court on March 12, 2007 and therefore all issues are moot and no response is necessary. See Joint Motion to Dismiss and Stipulation of Dismissal filed in this Court on March 12, 2007, copies of which are included as R.E. 4 and R.E. 5.

AS TO APPELLANTS FORREST HILL NURSING CENTER and LONG TERM CARE MANAGEMENT:

There are no justifiable issues before the Court; therefore, the appeal is moot. The underlying order(s) from which timely appeal was taken have been dismissed.¹ Therefore, the Court has no jurisdiction and their appeal should be docketed and dismissed.

¹ Forrest Hill Nursing Center and Long Term Care Management, LLC no longer have an appeal in which to join. As stated in their own brief, these defendants merely joined the interlocutory appeal filed by Defendant Timothy Estes, M.D.'s Appeal which has been dismissed pursuant to a Joint Motion to Dismiss and Stipulation of Dismissal filed in this Court on March 5, 2007. (Appellants' Forrest Hill Nursing Center, Hugh Franklin, A.D. Buffington, Long Term Care Management and Rhonda Bounds Brief, pg. 3, ¶ 2).

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pearl Henry was a resident of Forrest Hill Nursing Center from January 28, 2000 until her death on July 31, 2001. After Pearl Henry's death, Forrest Hill Nursing Center refused to provide Pearl Henry's medical records to Plaintiff despite repeated requests to do so. Plaintiff filed suit against Forrest Hill Nursing Center and a number of unknown John Doe defendants on July 25, 2003, one year, three hundred and fifty nine days after Pearl Henry's death; well within the Statute of Limitations. The complaint alleged negligence, wrongful death and wrongful withholding of medical records. (R.E. 6, Estes Petition Exhibit 4 at ¶ 7). On August 21, 2003, the named Defendant Forrest Hill Nursing Center filed a motion to dismiss. On October 2, 2003, just a little over two months after the filing of the initial complaint, Plaintiffs were granted permission by the Court to file an amended complaint.

On November 7, 2003, Plaintiffs filed the First Amended Complaint in this action. The style of the First Amended Complaint, like the style in the original complaint, described the defendants as "Forrest Hill Nursing Center, Scott Lindsey, and John Does 1-26." The body of the complaint itself contained a large section entitled "Parties" and numerous paragraphs describing in detail the John Does 1-26 by occupation, duties and negligent acts. The complaint assigned specific numbers to each category of fictitious party. John Doe 1 was specified to be owners of Forrest Hill Nursing Center whose identity was unknown to Plaintiffs; John Doe 2 was specified to be contractors providing skilled personnel to Forrest Hill Nursing Center; John Doe 4 was

specified to be the Medical Director of Forrest Hill Nursing Center whose identity was unknown to Plaintiffs; and John Does 5 through 17 were specified to be nurses whose identity was unknown to Plaintiffs. Scott Lindsey was identified as an administrator defendant, but Plaintiff specifically reserved the right to substitute a different administrator or add additional unidentified administrators upon learning the true identity of the other administrators that held the position during Pearl Henry's residency at the nursing home. (R.E. 7, First Amended Complaint at ¶¶ 3-14)

On November 20, 2003, approximately four months after filing the initial complaint and only two weeks after filing the first amended complaint, Plaintiffs again requested the medical records from Defendant Forrest Hill Nursing Center. Forrest Hill Nursing Center again failed to turn over these essential records which would contain vital information for determining the identity of the John Does actually responsible for the injuries to Pearl Henry. Plaintiff's counsel secretary then contacted the office of Defendant Forrest Hill Nursing Center's counsel to request the records again and was told that the firm of Maxey Wann did not represent Forrest Hill Nursing Center, a blatant falsehood. When Plaintiff's counsel was able to verify that Forrest Hill Nursing Center's counsel actually was the law firm of Maxey Wann, Plaintiff propounded discovery. (R.E. 6, Estes Petition, Exhibit 4 at ¶ 7)

The delay in identifying John Doe defendants and propounding discovery was clearly caused by the failure of Forrest Hill Nursing Center to turn over Pearl Henry's medical records and the deception on the part of Defendant's counsel in denying representation. The delay was not caused by a lack of diligence on the part of Plaintiff or Plaintiff's counsel. Given the abysmal failure of informal efforts to obtain the medical

records, it is clear that other informal methods would not have produced sufficient information to identify the medical director.

On June 5, 2005 after finally receiving the medical records and other discovery responses, Plaintiffs' counsel filed a notice of substitution and amendment to the complaint under M.R.C.P. 9(h). While the caption of the notice continued to use the short form "Forrest Hill Nursing Center, Scott Lindsey and John Does 1-26", the notice itself clearly demonstrated that it was amending the Parties section of the First Amended Complaint and was substituting specific names for specific John Does described in the First Amended Complaint. It specified that Robert Crawford, Hugh Franklin, and A. D. Buffington had been identified as owners of Forrest Hill Nursing Center and were being substituted under Rule 9(h) for the owner John Doe who was described in paragraph 5 of the First Amended Complaint. It specified that Rhonda Bounds and Verna Cook had each been identified as administrators of Forrest Hill Nursing Center and were being substituted under Rule 9(h) for John Doe Administrator, who was described in paragraphs ¶¶ 3-14 of the First Amended Complaint. It specified that Timothy Estes had been identified as the medical director and was being substituted under Rule 9(h) for John Doe 4 who was described in paragraph 9 of the First Amended Complaint. (R.E. 6, Estes Petition Exhibit 2)

On June 7, 2005, the Circuit Court entered an order authorizing the substitutions under Rule 9(h) and specifically finding that the substitutions were proper Rule 9(h) substitutions. The court also ruled that the identified defendants were effectively substituted in the complaint for the John Doe defendants specifically described in the complaint as John Doe Owners, John Doe Medical Director, John Doe Nurse, John Doe

Administrators, and John Doe Personnel Contractor. The court also specifically ruled that the substitutions related back to the original filing of the complaint. While the caption of the case was not changed on this Order, the Order is clear that it is effective in actually amending the Parties section of the original and First Amended Complaints.

(R.E. 6, Estes Petition, Exhibit 2) Almost two months later, on July 25, 2005, Robert Crawford, one of the defendants and a newly identified John Doe Owner, filed a motion to dismiss asserting that the statute of limitations had expired as to the defendants joined by the Rule 9(h) substitution order alleging that the substitutions cannot relate back to the original complaint because the Plaintiffs failed to exercise due diligence in identifying the substituted parties prior to the running of the statute of limitations. Estes subsequently joined in this Motion. (R.E. 6, Estes Petition Exhibits A and B) When this Motion was brought to the Circuit Court's attention at a hearing on October 20, 2005, the Circuit Court orally denied the Motion.

Subsequently this matter was settled with the defendant(s) Robert Crawford d/b/a Crawford Nursing Home and later dismissed against the defendants Timothy Estes, Judson Williams, Hugh Franklin, A.D. Buffington and Rhonda Bounds, leaving only the Defendants Forrest Hill Nursing Home and Long Term Care Management.

Forrest Hill Nursing Center and Long Term Care Management, LLC are the only two defendants remaining in this appeal.

IV.
FACTS

The plain language of MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-36(14) states:

(14) The limitation established by this section as to institutions for the aged or infirm shall apply only to actions the cause of which occurred on or after January 1, 2003.

Pearl Henry's date of death is July 31, 2001, thus her cause of action occurred on that date, July 31, 2001. Suit was filed July 25, 2003. The Defendant Forrest Hill Nursing Home made an untimely attempt to file an interlocutory appeal in this matter which was denied by order of this Court on June 15, 2005. There is no timely appeal by either party before this Court.

Defendants' Forrest Hill Nursing Center and Long Term Care Management, LLC Appeal should be denied and the matter remanded to the Hinds County Circuit Court.

By Order dated April 5, 2005, the Hinds County Circuit Court denied Forrest Hill Nursing Center's motion to dismiss, finding that Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36 "cannot be applied in this matter" and that Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58 "cannot be applied herein." (R.E. 8, Circuit Court's Order dated April 5, 2005).

On June 15, 2005, the Mississippi Supreme Court dismissed Forrest Hill Nursing Center's Motion for Interlocutory Appeal of the Hinds County Circuit Court's April 5, 2005 Order. (R.E. 9, Mississippi Supreme Court Order dated June 15, 2005).

Therefore, Defendants' Appeal pending before this Court today on petitions related to the notice requirements of Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36 is nothing more than an attempt to take another bite at the apple.

Even if Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36 applied, which the Hinds County Circuit Court has correctly ruled it does not, Plaintiff would show that the Complaint was filed on July 25, 2003, and the First Amended Complaint was filed on October 13, 2003 naming fictitious parties. Plaintiff learned through discovery and other sources, the true identity of John Doe Personnel Contractor, Long Term Care Management, LLC, who was added as a party defendant in this cause pursuant to Rule 9(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and by Order of the Circuit Court dated June 7, 2005. (R.E. 10, Circuit Court's Order dated June 7, 2005) As such, Plaintiff was not required to give sixty days prior written notice pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(15) which specifically provides:

This subsection shall not be applicable with respect to any defendant whose name is unknown to the plaintiff at the time of the filing of the complaint and who is identified therein by a fictitious name.

Even if Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58 applied, which the Circuit Court has correctly ruled it does not, Plaintiff denies that he has failed to comply. Plaintiff filed Certificates of Consultation on September 15, 2003 and on October 3, 2003. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58(2) states:

(2) Where a certificate is required pursuant to this section only, a single certificate is required for an action, even if more than one (1) defendant has been named in the complaint or is subsequently named.

Defendants' allegations regarding a previously filed Complaint of which Plaintiff and his counsel were unaware are irrelevant.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. ABSENT A TIMELY NOTICE OF APPEAL, THIS COURT HAS NO JURISDICTION

Timely notice of appeal has been held to be jurisdictional. Even if not raised by one of the parties, the Court is required to inquire and note lack of jurisdiction. *Michael v. Michael*, 650 So. 2d 469 (Miss. 1995).

Whether raised by the parties or not, this Court is required to note its own lack of jurisdiction. **Common Cause of Mississippi v. Smith**, 548 So. 2d 412, 414 (Miss. 1989); **Cotton v. Veterans Cab Co., Inc.**, 344 So. 2d 730, 731 (Miss. 1977); **Byrd v. Sinclair Oil & Refining Co.**, 240 So. 2d 623 (Miss. 1970)...when a party does not timely file a notice of appeal, this Court is without jurisdiction. **Duncan v. St. Romain**, 569 So. 2d 687, 688 (Miss. 1990). [**11] Naturally, when this Court is without jurisdiction, it has no power to decide issues.

See also *Duncan v. St. Romain*, 569 So. 2d 687 (Miss. 1990). Dismissal is mandatory. *Moore v. Wax*, 544 So. 2d 312 (Miss. 1989), *Tandy Electronics v. Fletcher*, 554 So. 2d 308 (Miss. 1989). The only appeal filed timely in this matter is the appeal of Timothy Estes, M.D. This appeal has been dismissed. This Court must dismiss appellants Forest Hill Nursing Center and Long Term Care Management for lack of jurisdiction.

B. ANY ISSUES BEFORE THIS COURT HAVE BECOME MOOT

With the dismissal of the appeals of Timothy Estes, M.D. and Judson Williams, CNP, along with the settlement of this matter as to Robert Crawford and the dismissal of Hugh Franklin, A.D. Buffington and Rhonda Bounds, this appeal has become moot. *Gartrell v. Gartrell*, 936 So. 2d 915 (Miss. 2006).

This Court's review should not be allowed for the purpose of settling abstract or academic questions, and this Court has no power to issue advisory opinions.

This Court should not issue advisory opinions. *A & F Properties, LLC v. Madison County Board of Supervisors*, 933 So. 2d 296 (Miss. 2006).

VI.

CONCLUSION

This interlocutory appeal will not resolve an issue of general importance in the administration of justice. Forrest Hill Nursing Center and Long Term Care Management, LLC are the only two defendants remaining in this appeal. As previously stated, these two defendants merely joined Defendant Timothy Estes, M.D.'s Appeal which was dismissed pursuant to a Joint Motion to Dismiss and Stipulation of Dismissal filed in this Court on March 5, 2007 and Defendant Judson Williams, CNP's Appeal which was dismissed pursuant to a Joint Motion to Dismiss and Stipulation of Dismissal filed in this Court on March 7, 2007. Technically, Forrest Hill Nursing Center and Long Term Care Management, LLC no longer have an appeal in which to join. Since no timely notice of appeal was filed by these parties as to an order relating to them, this Court has no jurisdiction and must dismiss.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the Trial Court should be affirmed and this case should be remanded to the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi.

FREDERICA BRISTER, CONSERVATOR OF
WILLIE MCKEE, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE
OF PEARL HENRY, DECEASED AND ON BEHALF
OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF
PEARL HENRY, DECEASED